NOT YET SCHEDULED FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

23-CF-055

Clerk of the Court
Received 11/05/2023 10:15 PM
Resubmitted 11/06/2023 11:49 AM

Filed 11/06/2023 11:49 AM

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

RODNEY ALLEYNE

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES,

Appellee.

On Appeal From The Superior Court Of The District Of Columbia Criminal Division

OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT RODNEY ALLEYNE

Jason K. Clark (D.C. Bar No. 1000198) Counsel of Record and Counsel for Oral Argument THE LAW OFFICE OF JASON K. CLARK 503 D Street, NW, Suite 250 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 505-2766 jason@clarkdefense.com

Counsel for Rodney Alleyne

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

- 1. Does robbery require that the government prove the defendant intended to wholly and permanently deprive a victim of their property?
- 2. Was the instruction given to the jury, that they may find Mr. Alleyne had the "intent to steal" sufficient to convey to the jury they must find that Mr. Alleyne had the requisite intent to permanently deprive Mr. Guardado of his property? Or, put another way, did the instruction sufficiently inform the jury that Mr. Alleyne could not be found guilty if he took Mr. Guardado's wallet, intending to return it at some point?
- 3. Does the law require the government to prove Mr. Alleyne had the intent to permanently deprive Mr. Guardado of his property *at the moment* he reached into Mr. Guardado's pocket to sustain a conviction for robbery? Or is there sufficient evidence if, after taking the property, a defendant manifests the intent to permanently deprive a person of their property minutes or weeks later? Must the actus reus and mens rea of robbery coincide?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rodney Alleyne was charged by indictment with five counts for an incident that occurred on May 13, 2020. A.3¹

	Description	DC Code Section	Finding
1	Robbery (wallet)	§ 22-2801	Guilty
2	Simple Assault	§ 22-404	Guilty
3	Unlawful Entry of a Motor Vehicle	§ 22-1341	Guilty
4	Second Degree Theft (tool and jacket)	§ 22-3211, 3212(b)	Guilty
5	Leaving After Colliding – Property	§ 50-2201.05c(a)(2)	Guilty
	Damage		

After a jury trial held over four days (Sep. 28, Sep. 29, Oct. 3, and Oct. 4, 2022) before the Honorable Jason Park, the jury found Mr. Alleyne guilty of all five counts.

At sentencing, Judge Park imposed a sentence of 42 months incarceration, 3 years supervised release, and \$100 to the VVCA on Count 1 (Robbery). As to the remaining counts, Judge Park imposed a sentence of 60 days incarceration and \$50 to the VVCA. All sentences imposed were to run concurrent with one another. A.7; *see also* Sentencing Tr. 15, Jan 13, 2023. Mr. Alleyne now appeals.

2

¹ Citations to the appendix are in the form, "A.[page number]".

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Alleyne's case was tried to a jury. The defense did not present any witnesses but did enter two pieces of evidence. *See* 10/3/22 Tr. 140-41 (the defense admitted Def. Ex. 1, a portion Mr. Guardado's grand jury statement used to impeach him, and Def. Ex. 3, a clip from the bus driver's recorded statement). The government's trial evidence is summarized as follows.

A. Mr. Henry Steven Romero Guardado

The government's first witness was the complainant Mr. Henry Steven Romero Guardado.² He testified that he was involved in a car accident with the defendant. Trial Tr. 31, Sep. 29, 2022 (hereinafter "9/29/22 Tr."). At the time of the accident, Mr. Guardado was driving home from work in his own vehicle, a dark red Mazda 3. 9/29/22 Tr. 31-32.

While driving, Mr. Guardado came to a stop at a red light near the intersection of Pennsylvania Ave. and Alabama Ave. SE. 9/29/22 Tr. 34, 85:20-22. At the stoplight, a gray Volkswagen Jetta stopped behind Mr. Guardado's vehicle. 9/29/22 Tr. 37:1 ("It was a gray Volkswagen Jetta"). When the light turned from red to green, the Jetta behind Mr. Guardado began to honk its horn. 9/29/22 Tr. 36:10-13, 85:23-86:1. Mr. Guardado said that he was perhaps a couple of seconds

² Mr. Henry Steven Romero Guardado is referred to in the record variously as Mr. Steven-Romero, Mr. Romero, or Mr. Guardado. For consistency, counsel has chosen to refer to him as Mr. Guardado.

late in accelerating after the light turned green. 9/29/22 Tr. 37:16-18. He explained that he has a manual transmission and so is a little slower in accelerating. 9/29/22 Tr. 37:16-18.

The Jetta behind, driven by Mr. Alleyne, then proceeded to pull up alongside Mr. Guardado and Mr. Alleyne began making hand gestures and trying to talk to him. 9/29/22 Tr. 36:10-13 (hand gestures), 37:4 (driver made the gestures); 37:7-8 (". . . trying to tell me things."), 86:17-25.

Mr. Guardado stated that the driver of the Jetta "advanced a bit, and threw a [soda or soft drink] can "9/29/22 Tr. 38:4-8, 87:1-3. The can hit his front windshield. 9/29/22 Tr. 38:6 (hit window), 87:8-12 (explains can hit windshield because the Jetta was slightly ahead of his vehicle). On cross examination, Mr. Guardado was impeached with the absence of any mention of a can being thrown during his initial interview with the police on scene. 9/29/22 Tr. 89:24-90:3. On redirect, the government introduced a portion of Mr. Guardado's grand jury testimony in which he stated "[Mr. Alleyne] went out of my lane again and he threw a can of soda or juice at me." Trial Tr. 19:24-25, Oct. 3, 2022 (hereinafter "10/3/22 Tr."). Defense counsel did not object to the government's introduction of the grand jury statement.

1) Car Accident

After throwing the can, Mr. Guardado said Mr. Alleyne, in the Jetta, "pulled into my lane, pulled back out, pull back into it, and slammed on the brakes. And I made contact." 9/29/22 Tr. 38:4-8; 10/3/22 Tr. 15:6-10. Mr. Guardado recalled that "after the person left his lane and came into my lane, then went back into his lane and then came back again into my lane, he braked extremely suddenly." 9/29/22 Tr. 39:5-7, 87. Mr. Guardado stated that the Jetta "came out of his lane into my lane and braked at the same time, so I didn't have time to avoid his car." 9/29/22 Tr. 39:10-12. Mr. Guardado's vehicle struck the back of the Jetta. 9/29/22 Tr. 39. As a result of the collision Mr. Guardado's bumper was broken. 9/29/22 Tr. 39. Mr. Guardado stated that his car was damaged. 9/29/22 Tr. 65:12; see also Govt's Ex. 4 (photograph of vehicle after accident).

2) Exiting the Car

Mr. Guardado testified that Mr. Alleyne³ got out of the car and appeared very upset. 9/29/22 Tr. 40, 90:14-15. Mr. Alleyne approached Mr. Guardado's car and pulled Mr. Guardado out. 9/29/22 Tr. 40 ("[H]e got me out of my car."), 90:24-91:2 (pulled out). Mr. Guardado described Mr. Alleyne's actions stating that Mr. Alleyne opened Mr. Guardado's car door and pulled him by the arm. 9/29/22

³ Mr. Guardado never identified Mr. Alleyne as the driver of the Volkswagen Jetta vehicle. However, Mr. Alleyne's identity as the driver of the Volkswagen Jetta was not seriously disputed and he was identified as the driver by another witness, Delgado Moore. 10/3/22 Tr. 57.

Tr. 41. Mr. Guardado still had his seat belt on, so he removed it, and then exited the vehicle. 9/29/22 Tr. 41. Mr. Guardado claimed that he did not get out of the car on his own but was taken out of the car by Mr. Alleyne. 9/29/22 Tr. 93:8-9 ("I didn't get off [sic] the car. I was taken off [sic] the car.").

Mr. Alleyne continued speaking to Mr. Guardado, but Mr. Guardado could not understand everything that was being said due to his limited English. 9/29/22 Tr. 40. What he could make out, was that Mr. Alleyne was telling him that he needed to pay for the damage. 9/29/22 Tr. 40 ("What I was able to understand is that I need to pay for this; I need to pay him for this."), 41:7-9 ("Well, from what I was able to understand, there were a lot of curse words directed to me and that I needed to pay for this and 'son of a bitch.""), 44:7-11 ("And he was yelling and saying a lot of different things like, 'You son of a bitch' and 'You're going to have to pay for this."").

3) Removing the Wallet

While Mr. Alleyne continued yelling, he began searching Mr. Guardado's pockets. 9/29/22 Tr. 40:5-6. Mr. Guardado testified that Mr. Alleyne began to pat down his (Mr. Guardado's) pockets. 9/29/22 Tr. 93:5-9 (patted down pockets after being taken out). Mr. Guardado had his wallet in his pants pocket, not in his hands. 9/29/22 Tr. 93:10-14 (wallet in pants pocket), 94:15-17 (wallet removed from left-hand pocket). Mr. Guardado testified that Mr. Alleyne went into his pants pocket

and removed his wallet. 9/29/22 Tr. 41:25-42:1 ("He took my wallet out."), 93:15-18. Mr. Guardado claimed his wallet contained his bank card, laundry card, and driver's license. 9/29/22 Tr. 81:3-6.

While Mr. Alleyne was going through Mr. Guardado's pockets, Mr. Guardado testified he was hit in the abdomen, near the navel. 9/29/22 Tr. 42. Mr. Guardado explained that he had just had appendix surgery a month earlier, 9/29/22 Tr. 42, and did not resist Mr. Alleyne in any way because he feared that he might be touched where he had his surgery and was still healing. 9/29/22 Tr. 93-94; see also 10/3/22 Tr. 22. On cross-examination, Mr. Guardado clarified that Mr. Alleyne did not hit him so much as brush across his abdomen when Mr. Alleyne was searching his pockets. 9/29/22 Tr. 97:4-6 ("I never said that he had struck me as such, but I did mention that he glanced to me when he was going from one pocket to the other."). Defense counsel impeached Mr. Guardado with the omission from his grand jury testimony any mention of being glanced or struck in the abdomen. 9/29/22 Tr. 97-99 ("And in that answer to the grand jury, you never mentioned anything about being hit in the navel near your surgery, did you?").

On redirect the government introduced Mr. Guardado's statement to the grand jury in which he stated: "Well, that day when the police came they asked if I needed an ambulance and I had actually just had surgery one month earlier and that was one of the reasons why I was also so afraid because I just had this operation

and I was still pretty delicate. Is that what you testified to in the Grand Jury?" 10/3/22 Tr. 21. The statement made no mention of being hit in the abdomen, yet defense counsel did not object to its admission.

Mr. Alleyne took Mr. Guardado's wallet and walked back to his own car and put the wallet inside. 9/29/22 Tr. 42. After Mr. Alleyne put Mr. Guardado's wallet in his vehicle, he came back to Mr. Guardado's car "opened up all the car doors and started taking everything he could see." 9/29/22 Tr. 43-44. Mr. Guardado stated that Mr. Alleyne went into his vehicle and took a "24 mechanics wrench and my jacket." 9/29/22 Tr. 43. Mr. Alleyne put the jacket in his Jetta, but kept the wrench⁴ in his hand. 9/29/22 Tr. 44:3-4.

4) Passerby in a van stops to assist

According to Mr. Guardado, he believed that Mr. Alleyne would also take his phone, so he tried to hide it in his boxers at first. 9/29/22 Tr. 42. However, a work van drove by, and Mr. Guardado passed his cell phone off to the driver of the van for safekeeping. 9/29/22 Tr. 42-43, 44:18-20. The man in the work van parked in front of Mr. Guardado's vehicle, which was still stopped in the road, and attempted to assist in calming down the situation. 9/29/22 Tr. 44:23-24 ("Well, he parked his van, his work van, in front of us. And he got out, and he tried to talk -- talk to us and tried to get the guy to calm down."); 10/3/22 Tr. 8:2-15 (tried to

⁴ What Mr. Guardado refers to as a "wrench," is also referred to as a "tire iron."

intervene). Mr. Guardado asked the man from the work van to call police, and he did. 9/29/22 Tr. 45:1-8.

5) 911 Call Admitted (Govt's Ex. 3)

The man from the work van did not testify at trial. The government introduced a recording of the man's 911 call through Mr. Guardado without objection. 9/29/22 Tr. 45-47 (911 call introduced as Govt's Ex. 3). Mr. Guardado testified that the 911 call accurately captured what was being said at the time of the call. 9/29/22 Tr. 45:21-24. Also introduced by the government was Exhibit 12, a stipulation that the 911 call (Govt's Ex. 3) was an unaltered recording of the 911 call made on May 13, at 16:53:41. 9/29/22 Tr. 47-48 (stipulation read to the jury). Mr. Guardado identified the voice of the guy from the van and stated he was the person making the 911 call. Mr. Guardado also identified the voice of the Jetta's driver (Mr. Alleyne) in the background of the call. 9/29/22 Tr. 48:21-49:4 (voice in background saying, "What's your name? Where your phone at?" is Mr. Alleyne). Mr. Guardado explained that Mr. Alleyne had already taken his wallet at the time the 911 call was made, but remained on scene. 9/29/22 Tr. 49:8-15.

6) Insurance Documents

Mr. Guardado testified that at some point there was a public bus behind him. 9/29/22 Tr. 49:19. Mr. Guardado stated that he grabbed a bag of documents, which included his insurance and registration information, and tried to give them to the bus driver. 9/29/22 Tr. 49:19-50:2. Mr. Guardado testified the vehicle was insured

through State Farm. 9/29/22 Tr. 50:6. When asked why he brought the documents to the bus driver, he explained: "Well, I was pretty new to this country at that time, and I knew I was being robbed. And I thought that if he took the documents and he took the car, I wasn't going to be able to recover the car. It was my first car, so I was afraid that could happen." 9/29/22 Tr. 50:14-18. Mr. Guardado explained that he did not actually hand the documents to the bus driver, but stuck his hand in the driver's window which was open, and put the documents inside on the dashboard. 9/29/22 Tr. 50:23-25, 107:5-8 (dashboard), 109:7-9. Mr. Guardado also asked the bus driver to call the police. 9/29/22 Tr. 51:4, 107:9-12.

After placing the documents inside the bus, Mr. Alleyne came over and grabbed the documents, taking them out of the bus. 9/29/22 51:7-12; 10/3/22 Tr. 5:24-6:2. Mr. Guardado said that after Mr. Alleyne took the documents out of the bus, it was "more of the same" arguing and yelling. 9/29/22 Tr. 51:15-17. At one point the bus driver got out and tried to calm down Mr. Alleyne. 9/29/22 Tr. 51:16-17.

There is a confusing exchange wherein Mr. Guardado seems to say that Mr. Alleyne, at some point, took the phone of his co-worker, however how or when that happened is never explained. 9/29/22 Tr. 51:20-24. Mr. Guardado said that Mr. Alleyne "put it on the roof of his car" and tried to call the insurance company. 9/29/22 Tr. 51 ("He put it on the roof of his car, and he tried to call the insurance

company, and that's when he returned my coworker's cell phone as well as the documents."); 10/3/22 Tr. 9:4-5 (put co-workers phone on roof). Mr. Guardado said that Mr. Alleyne had his co-worker's phone. 9/29/22 Tr. 52. While Mr. Alleyne held the insurance paperwork, Mr. Alleyne was reportedly "saying to call the insurance." 9/29/22 Tr. 52:8-15, 91:11-13 ("Not until he took the bag with my documents in it and threw it on top of his car did he mention that insurance and told me to call them.").

Mr. Guardado suggested that he tried to call his insurance, but that Mr. Alleyne would not let him. ⁵ 9/29/22 Tr. 52:17-18; *see also* 10/3/22 Tr. 9:20-22 ("When I was trying to call them [insurance] he wouldn't let me because he was trying to take the phone away from me. That is my work mate's phone."). Mr. Guardado denied that Mr. Alleyne asked him for his information, 10/3/22 Tr. 9:13, but admitted after being confronted with the video, Govt's Ex.7 @1:53-3:21, that Mr. Alleyne remained on scene and asked him to call his insurance carrier. 10/3/22 Tr. 9:25-10:17. Mr. Guardado stated that Mr. Alleyne never provided his name or contact information. 9/29/22 Tr. 65:3-7.

_

⁵ It is never explained how Mr. Alleyne did not allow him to call his insurance. It is also unclear how Mr. Guardado could have tried to call given that he had handed his phone off to the van driver and no longer had it. 10/3/22 Tr. 8:4-5 (Mr. Alleyne did not have Mr. Guardado's cell phone).

7) Mr. Alleyne Eventually Leaves

Mr. Guardado then asked Mr. Alleyne to "give me my wallet back" 9/29/22 Tr. 52:21-23. Mr. Alleyne did not return the wallet, but said to follow him to get his wallet back. 9/29/22 Tr. 52-53 ("I asked for my wallet back, and he told me to follow him.").

Mr. Alleyne returned to his car and tried to drive it. 9/29/22 Tr. 53.

However, Mr. Guardado's car was stuck to Mr. Alleyne's vehicle and Mr.

Guardado's vehicle did not have the emergency brake engaged. 9/29/22 Tr. 53;

10/3/22 Tr. 11, 13. Thus, when Mr. Alleyne's vehicle moved, Mr. Guardado's vehicle moved as well. So, Mr. Guardado entered his vehicle and engaged the emergency brake. After that, Mr. Alleyne was able to drive his vehicle away.

9/29/22 Tr. 53. Mr. Alleyne drove away telling Mr. Guardado to follow him and that he would give Mr. Guardado his stuff. 9/29/22 Tr. 53:18-21 ("Well, to follow him and that he was going to give me my stuff."), 77:16-17 ("That's when the other driver had everything in his car, and he left and told me to follow him."); see also 10/3/22 Tr. 11:12-14, 13. Mr. Alleyne drove away with Mr. Guardado's wallet, jacket, and wrench, but he did not go far. 9/29/22 Tr. 77:18-20.

8) Mr. Guardado Encounters Mr. Alleyne At A Nearby Gas Station Mr. Guardado then drove to the next intersection down, where the driver of the work van was now located. 9/29/22 Tr. 54 (explaining the man in the work van had left the scene and was stopped at the following stoplight), 63:3-6 (left scene of

accident to find man in work van). Mr. Guardado went to the driver of the work van to ask for his phone back, but the van driver had already given the phone to his (Guardado's) co-worker. 9/29/22 Tr. 53-54, 63:3-9.

When Mr. Guardado went to turn around and return to the scene of the accident, he saw the Jetta Volkswagen, driven by Mr. Alleyne, stopped at a nearby gas station. 9/29/22 Tr. 53-54; 10/3/22 Tr. 14. Mr. Guardado drove towards Mr. Alleyne and asked for his wallet back. 9/29/22 Tr. 54. Mr. Alleyne said, "No, follow me. Not here." 9/29/22 Tr. 54:4; 10/3/22 Tr. 14.

Mr. Guardado explained: "When I was about to make a U-turn, I saw him pulling out of the gas station, and so I pulled up alongside him and asked him to return my wallet to me. I told him I was going to pay. And once I told him that, he told me he was going to give it to me but for me to follow him. But I didn't follow him. I merely returned to the spot where the accident had occurred." 9/29/22 Tr. 63:19-25. It is not clear where Mr. Alleyne proceeded to drive to after this exchange.

Mr. Guardado stated he "was afraid" to follow Mr. Alleyne because "something further" could happen. 9/29/22 Tr. 64:2-4; *see also* 10/3/22 Tr. 17:17-20. Mr. Guardado said that in total, he asked for his things back, "[m]aybe more than ten [times]. I don't know." 9/29/22 Tr. 77:24. Each time, Mr. Alleyne responded, not now, but that he would give them to Mr. Guardado later. 9/29/22

Tr. 78:1-2. Mr. Guardado stated that he never received his wallet, jacket, or wrench back. 9/29/22 Tr. 80:25-81:2.

After leaving the vicinity of the gas station, Mr. Guardado returned to the location of the accident. 9/29/22 Tr. 64:5-7. Mr. Guardado explained he went back to the scene to meet police whom he expected would be arriving shortly. 9/29/22 Tr. 64.

Mr. Guardado spoke to the police on scene. 9/29/22 Tr. 89. Mr. Guardado provided Mr. Alleyne's license plate number to police. 9/29/22 Tr. 64-65. Mr. Guardado spoke to a Spanish speaking officer who relayed his statements to a detective. 9/29/22 Tr. 89. According to Mr. Guardado, Mr. Alleyne never contacted him after the incident. 10/3/22 Tr. 18.

B. Officer James Abdeljabbar

Officer James Abdeljabbar testified that he recovered videos showing portions of the interaction between Mr. Alleyne and Mr. Guardado. The videos were taken from a nearby metro bus. The videos were received as government's exhibits five (Ex. #5 is a video showing the external area in front of the bus) and six (Ex. #6 is a video showing the interior of the bus).

C. Detective James Langerbach

Detective James Langerbach arrived on scene the day of the accident. Det.

Langerbach interviewed the bus driver, Delgado Moore. Delgado Moore

identified—via a photo array identification procedure—Mr. Alleyne as the driver of the struck vehicle. 10/3/22 Tr. 43, 47-48.

D. Delgado Moore (Bus Driver)

Mr. Delgado Moore testified for the government. Mr. Moore testified that he was operating a WMATA Metro bus near the scene of the car accident. 10/3/22 Tr. 50-51. Mr. Moore explained that he witnessed the car accident and some of the interaction between Mr. Alleyne and Mr. Guardado.

Mr. Moore described seeing Mr. Alleyne take something from Mr. Guardado's pocket after the accident. 10/3/22 Tr. 61. Mr. Moore's description of events was largely consistent with Mr. Guardado's testimony; however, Mr. Moore denied seeing a can being thrown. 10/3/22 Tr. 85:5-6.

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