BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-55

RODNEY ALLEYNE,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN CHARLES R. JONES **CAROLINE HUETHER**

- * DAVID P. SAYBOLT, VA Bar #44518 **Assistant United States Attorneys**
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 David.Saybolt@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2020-CF3-5272



Received 03/06/2024 12:27 PM Filed 03/06/2024 12:27 PM

Appellee.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For the first time on appeal, Alleyne presents two claims of instructional error: (1) that the trial court erred by instructing the jury

⁵ Alleyne did not put on a case, but the court received two defense exhibits introduced for impeachment purposes (10-3-22 Tr. 140-41).

that the intent to steal required to convict Alleyne of robbery requires an intent to deprive Romero-Guardado of his property, without specifying an intent to "permanently" deprive; and (2) that the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury that the mens rea and taking in a robbery must occur at the same instant. Alleyne has waived his first claim because the trial court gave the jury the exact *Redbook* instructions on robbery and theft that Alleyne's counsel requested. Even if this Court reviews this claim, Alleyne cannot show plain error in the *Redbook* mens-rea instruction given by the court. Nor can he show plain error on his second claim. Finally even if there was error in either respect, Alleyne's substantial rights were not prejudiced because the presentation of the case by the parties and the jury's verdict demonstrated that even if the jury had been instructed as Alleyne now wishes, there is no reasonable probability of a different result.

Contrary to Alleyne's claim, there was abundant evidence that Alleyne intended to steal the wallet he took from Romero-Guardado. Alleyne forcibly removed Romero-Guardado from his car, took the wallet from his person, cursed and shouted at him that he was going to get paid, refused to return the wallet despite Romero-Guardado's repeated requests, and then left the scene with the wallet and never returned it.

ARGUMENT

I. Alleyne Has Waived His First Claim of Instructional Error Because the Trial Court Gave the Instruction He Requested; Even if Not, He Cannot Demonstrate Plain Error as to That or His Other Instructional-Error Claim.

For the first time on appeal, Alleyne urges (at 18-31) that the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury that robbery requires an intent to "permanently deprive" Romero-Guardado of his property. He further claims (at 30, 32-35) for the first time that the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury that Alleyne was required to have the requisite mens rea for robbery at the moment he reached into Romero-Guardado's pocket and took the wallet. Alleyne has waived the first claim because the trial court gave precisely the mens-rea instruction that counsel requested. In any event, Alleyne failed to present either claim to the trial court with specificity. To the extent this Court reviews his claims, it should only do so for plain error, which Alleyne has not shown.

A. Additional Background

During discussion of final jury instructions, Alleyne asked the trial court to instruct on the lesser-included charge of second-degree theft (wallet) to the charged robbery (wallet) count (10-4-22 Tr. 18-19). Reading from the Redbook instruction on Theft, see Criminal Jury Instructions for the District of Columbia ("Redbook"), No. 5.300 (5th ed. 2022), counsel urged that whereas robbery required proof of an "intent to steal," theft required proof only of an "intent to deprive another of property," which could mean "caus[ing] [the property] to be withheld from a person permanently under such an extended period or under such circumstances as the Defendant acquired a substantial portion of the property value," or "dispos[ing] of the property or [using or dealing] with the property in such a way as to make it unlikely that the owner will recover it" (10-4-22) Tr. 19-20). See also D.C. Code § 22-3211(b) (theft); § 22-3201 (definition of "deprive"). Counsel explained that if the jury found Alleyne's "intent was to hold [the wallet] and then to simply . . . get the information and then to give it back," Alleyne would be guilty of theft but not robbery, assuming the other elements were met (*id.* at 22). The court acknowledged that the jury could find that Alleyne "intended to

temporarily deprive [Romero-Guardado] of this property and intended to return it thereafter," but the "question is simply whether that matters" (*id.* at 24).

The court initially read *Lattimore v. United States*, 684 A.2d 357 (D.C. 1996), as suggesting that "there is no distinction in the case law between the deprivation of property elements of the robbery and theft statutes," and that the jury should not be instructed on theft as a lesserincluded offense of robbery (10-4-22 Tr. 24-25). Counsel then stated, "based on that I would ask that the specific intent language be added to the robbery" (id. at 31). The court inquired what language counsel was referring to, and counsel responded, "I would ask that he took the property without right with specific intent to steal it" (id. at 32). The court responded that the robbery *Redbook* instruction already required what counsel was requesting, namely that Alleyne "intended to steal it and if [Alleyne] took the property for a lawful purpose, that there is no robbery" (id.). The court noted that, for either charge, the government would have to prove that Alleyne "intended to withhold the property or cause it to be withheld from a person permanently," and "that is the Government's only theory" (id. at 33).

After the lunch break, the court announced that it had further reviewed caselaw on the mens-rea requirement of robbery and theft, which "is a little bit of a mess," and now agreed with counsel (10-4-22 Tr. 38-41). Relying on *Fredericks v. United States*, 306 A.2d 268 (D.C. 1973), the court reasoned that whereas robbery requires an intent to steal, meaning "an intent to permanently deprive a person of property," "theft does not require an intent to appropriate the property permanently" (*id.* at 39). The court stated, "I think this was the point that [defense counsel] was trying to make" (*id.*). The court announced it would add the *Redbook* instruction on theft, and defense counsel twice stated he had no objection (*id.* at 40-41).

Without objection, the court instructed the jury, giving the *Redbook* instructions for Robbery and Theft, as a lesser-included offense (10-4-22 Tr. 57-63). *See Redbook*, No. 4.300 (Robbery); *Redbook*, No. 5.300 (Theft). The court told the jury that to convict Alleyne of robbery the government must establish Alleyne "took the property without right to it and intending to steal it" (10-4-22 Tr. 58). The court elaborated:

The Government must establish that Mr. Alleyne had no right to take the property and that he intended to steal it. There can be no robbery if the Defendant takes the property for a lawful purpose. It is necessary that Mr. Alleyne intended to deprive Mr. Romero Guardado of his property and take it for his own use. (*Id.* at 59.)

The court further instructed the jury that to convict Alleyne of the lesserincluded offense of theft of Romero-Guardado's wallet, the government had to prove that Alleyne "intended either to deprive Mr. Guardado of a right to the property or a benefit of the property or to take or make use of the property for him or for another person without authority or right" (*id.*). The court explained:

To intend to deprive another of property means to intend to withhold the property or cause it to be withheld from a person permanently or for such an extended period or under such circumstances that the Defendant acquires a substantial portion of the property value. It may also mean to dispose of the property or to use or deal with the property in such a way as to make it unlikely that the owner will recover it. (*Id.*)

During closing argument, the government argued that Alleyne's statements on the scene insisting he get "paid" and "T'm getting something out of this today" evidenced his intent to steal Romero-Guardado's property (10-4-22 Tr. 66; *id.* at 77 ("So, how do you know that Defendant intended to steal [the wallet]? You know from his statements.")). The government urged that Alleyne took the wallet either to use the money inside the wallet or "to extract some kind of payment off scene away from the cameras and away from the cops" (*id.* at 77).

Defense counsel countered that "no robbery . . . occurred" (*id.* at 80). "There was never an intent to steal" because Alleyne's "whole intent was to try to get the necessary information to ensure that he could get his car fixed" (*id.* at 87). Counsel told the jury, "you need to determine whether or not this was a theft or whether it truly was a robbery" (*id.* at 89). Neither party suggested that Alleyne's intent changed once he drove away from the scene with the wallet.

B. Alleyne Has Waived His Claim; If Not, His Claim Can Only Be Reviewed for Plain Error.

As defense counsel requested (10-4-22 Tr. 18-25, 31-33), the trial court instructed the jury on the lesser-included offense of misdemeanor theft in addition to robbery with respect to Alleyne's taking of Romero-Guardado's wallet (*id.* at 57-63). In each case, the court gave the *Redbook* instruction, defense counsel suggested no modifications to that text, and twice stated expressly his satisfaction with the instructions (40-41, 57-63). To the extent that Alleyne now complains (at 30) that the trial court gave both pattern instructions without the modifications he now complains of, he is precluded from pressing this claim on appeal. *See Bland v. United States*, 153 A.2d 78, 79 n.2 (D.C. 2016) (invited error doctrine precluded consideration of defendant's challenge to trial court's conclusion that prior conviction was a crime of violence for purposes of sentence enhancement, where defense counsel told trial court he would not challenge such a finding); *Preacher v. United States*, 934 A.2d 363, 368 (D.C. 2007) ("Generally, the invited error doctrine precludes a party from asserting as error on appeal a course that he or she has induced the trial court to take."); *Brown v. United States*, 627 A.2d 499, 508 (D.C. 1993) ("We have repeatedly held that a defendant may not take one position at trial and a contradictory position on appeal.").

Even if his claim is not waived, Alleyne never asked the court to amend the *Redbook* mens-rea instruction to read "permanently deprive," as opposed to "deprive" (see 10-4-22 Tr. 59 ("It is necessary that Mr. Alleyne intended to deprive Mr. Romero Guardado of his property and take it for his own use."). Alleyne claims (at 29) that counsel preserved his objection by requesting the court to include "the specific intent language be added to the robbery" (10-3-22 Tr. 31), but when the court asked counsel what language he wished to add, counsel merely reiterated the language that was already in the pattern instruction (*id.* at 32). Alleyne never asked the court to add the word "permanently" to the instruction, nor did he even suggest such an amendment with any specificity. *See Hunter v. United States*, 606 A.2d 139, 144 (D.C. 1992) ("Objections must be made with reasonable specificity; the judge must be fairly apprised as to the question on which he is being asked to rule."). In addition, the question of concurrence now pressed on appeal was never raised at all at trial. For these reasons, even if appellate review is available, this Court can only review these claims for plain error. *Buskey v. United States*, 148 A.3d 1193, 1205 (D.C. 2016) ("[B]ecause no objection to the initial jury instructions was raised before the jury retired to deliberate, our review of the initial instructions is subject to the plain error standard").

"Under the test for plain error, an appellant must show (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affected [his] substantial rights." *Buskey*, 148 A.3d at 1204 (citation omitted). "Even if all three of these conditions are met, this court will not reverse unless (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[T]he plain-error exception is cold comfort to most defendants pursuing claims of instructional error." *Wilson v. United States*, 785 A.2d 321, 326 (D.C. 2001); *see also id.* ("While reversal of a conviction based on unpreserved instructional error is theoretically possible, [it is] the rare case in which an improper instruction will justify reversal of a criminal conviction when no objection has been made in the trial court." (quoting *United States v. Weston*, 960 F.2d 212, 216 (1st Cir. 1992)).

C. Applicable Legal Principles

1. Robbery

The robbery statute provides that:

Whoever by force or violence, whether against resistance or by sudden or stealthy seizure or snatching, or by putting in fear, shall take from the person or immediate actual possession of another anything of value, is guilty of robbery . ..

D.C. Code § 22-2801. In the District of Columbia, "robbery retains its common law elements"; to prove robbery "the government must prove larceny and assault." *(Furl) Williams v. United States*, 113 A.3d 554, 560 (D.C. 2015); *Lattimore v. United States*, 684 A.2d 357, 359 (D.C. 1996); *United States v. Owens*, 332 A.2d 752, 753–54 (D.C. 1975); *see also Bailey v. United States*, 257 A.3d 486, 501 (D.C. 2021) (Glickman, J., concurring) (common-law basis for 1901 robbery statute).

To prove robbery, the government was required to show that Alleyne: (1) took property of some value from the complainant against the complainant's will; (2) took the property from the complainant's person or immediate actual possession; (3) used force or violence to take the property, by taking it by sudden or stealthy seizure or by snatching; (4) carried away the property; and (5) took the property without right and with the specific intent to steal it. *Zanders v. United States*, 678 A.2d 556, 563 (D.C. 1996).

2. Theft

A person commits the offense of theft if that person wrongfully obtains or uses the property of another with intent: (1) To deprive the other of a right to the property or a benefit of the property; or (2) To appropriate the property to his or her own use or to the use of a third person.

D.C. Code § 22-3211(b). "Deprive" means

(A) To withhold property or cause it to be withheld from a person permanently or for so extended a period or under such circumstances as to acquire a substantial portion of its value; or

(B) To dispose of the property, or use or deal with the property so as to make it unlikely that the owner will recover it.

D.C. Code § 22-3201(2).

D. Analysis

Contrary to Alleyne's claim, he cannot demonstrate plain error prejudicing his substantial rights with respect to either assertion of instructional error.

1. Alleyne Has Not Demonstrated That the Trial Court's Mens-Rea Instruction For Robbery Was Plainly Erroneous.

Alleyne urges (at 18-31) that the trial court plainly erred by giving the *Redbook* instruction on robbery without specifying that the intent to steal requires an intent to "deprive permanently" (see 10-4-22 Tr. 59 ("The Government must establish that Mr. Alleyne had no right to take the property and that he intended to steal it . . . It is necessary that Mr. Alleyne intended to *deprive* Mr. Romero Guardado of his property and take it for his own use.") (emphasis added). Alleyne cannot demonstrate plain error.

First, as Alleyne concedes (at 23), there is conflicting case law in this jurisdiction whether the intent to steal requires an intent to deprive "permanently." On this ground alone, Alleyne's argument fails because he cannot demonstrate error that is "clear under current law." *Anderson* *v. United States*, 857 A.2d 451, 459 (D.C. 2004) (plain error must be "clear under current law").

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